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Law Offices of Charles M. Tebbutt, P.C. 
941 Lawrence Street 
Eugene, OR 97401 

Ph: 541-344-3505 Fax: 541-344-3516 
August 26, 2020 

THIS IS AN URGENT LEGAL MATTER REQUIRING YOUR 
IMMEDIATE ATTENTION 

Via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested: 

Michael L. Johnson 
Edge Cable Holdings USA, LLC 
1601 Willow Road 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Registered Agent 
Corporation Service Company 
1127 Broadway Street, Suite 310 
Salem, OR 97301 

Manager 
Facebook, Inc. 
1601 Willow Road 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Other recipients identified on last page 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO SUE PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION 
CONTROL ACT, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1) 

Dear Sirs/Madams: 

Pursuant to the citizen suit provision of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 
U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1) (hereinafter referred to as the “Clean Water Act” or “CWA”), Oregon Coast 
Alliance, an Oregon non-profit corporation (hereinafter “Notifying Party”), hereby notifies you 
that on or after the 60th day from the date of this notice, Notifying Party intends to initiate a 
citizen suit in Oregon Federal District Court against Edge Cable Holdings USA, LLC (“Edge” or 
“ECH”) concerning the unlawful operation and drilling accident of the Jupiter Submarine Cable 
System, located at Lot 3200, 28560 Sandlake Road, Cloverdale, Tillamook County, Oregon and 
extending 0.6 nautical miles (“NM”) off the Pacific Ocean shoreline.  

The lawsuit will allege that Edge has violated and remains in violation of the CWA and 
applicable state water quality control laws by discharging pollutants, including but not limited to 
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solid waste, wrecked or discarded equipment, industrial waste, other pollutants, such as Bore-
Gel, Quick-Bore, and Pac-L, and other as yet unidentified or undisclosed pollutants, from a point 
source into navigable waters without a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit. 
Such violations have occurred each and every day since April 28, 2020, and are reasonably likely 
to continue in the future given Edge’s failure to address the drilling accident of the Jupiter 
Submarine Cable System installation. The lawsuit will further allege that ECH’s reckless actions 
associated with the abandonment of the drilling equipment and fluid is a direct violation of the 
Nationwide Permit 12 Terms and Conditions.  
  

The lawsuit will seek mandatory injunctive relief requiring ECH to comply with the 
CWA and to pay civil penalties up to the amount of $55,800 per day, per CWA violation. As 
authorized by the CWA, the lawsuit will also seek an order from the Court requiring ECH to pay 
Notifying Party’s attorneys’ and expert witnesses’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this 
enforcement action. 
 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

 Despite overwhelming opposition from the public, and specifically the Tierra Del Mar 
community, Edge Cable Holdings USA, LLC, a subsidiary of Facebook, Inc., commenced 
installation of a fiber optic telecommunications cable, the Jupiter Cable System, on or around 
April 7, 2020. The Jupiter Cable System originates on the Oregon coast in the community of 
Tierra Del Mar and extends beneath the ocean floor to an offshore location approximately 0.6 
nautical miles off the coast. The installation required construction of a concrete beach manhole 
(“BMH”) on a residential lot in Tierra Del Mar from which Edge would use the horizontal 
directional drilling technique (“HDD”) to bore a conduit for placement of a 5-inch submarine 
pipe to accommodate the fiber optic cable. The HDD operations included the injection of drilling 
fluid through the conduit in the seabed. The drilling fluid contains various bentonite clay-based 
mixtures, such as Bore-Gel, Quick-Bore, and Pac-L, which if released into the water have the 
potential to adversely impact fish and aquatic invertebrates. Upon information and belief, the 
drilling fluid contains harmful and/or toxic chemicals that Edge has failed to disclose.  
 
 On April 28, 2020, when the HDD apparatus encountered a hard substrate, the drill pipe 
broke and Edge, without notice to any state of federal agency, abandoned the drilling rig in the 
seafloor and vacated the site. Edge subsequently waited 50 days before informing the Oregon 
Parks and Recreation Department on June 17, 2020 of the details of the accident. According to 
public records, Edge abandoned approximately 1,100 feet of steel pipe, the tungsten carbide drill 
tip, beryllium copper gyro and steering tools, and at least 6,500 gallons of drilling fluid. Upon 
information and belief, shortly after the drilling rig broke, drilling fluid was released from the 
pipe conduit and began migrating through the seafloor and into the Pacific Ocean. As of the date 
of this notice letter, Edge has failed to take any action to stop the discharge of pollutants or 
remediate any harmful effects from the release of pollutants into the Pacific Ocean.  
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VIOLATIONS OF THE CLEAN WATER ACT: UNPERMITTED DISCHARGES TO 
WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES 

 
 The Clean Water Act is the cornerstone of surface water quality protection in the United 
States. Sections 301 and 402 of the CWA establish the basic requirement that the discharge of 
pollutants into surface waters requires a permit before any such discharge is allowed. Section 
301 of the CWA provides that “except as in compliance with…section…1342…of this title, the 
discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.” 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). Section 402 of 
the CWA establishes the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Program, 
which controls water pollution by regulating point sources. “Point source” is defined by the 
CWA as “any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any 
pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit…from which pollutants are or may be discharged.” 33 
U.S.C. § 1362(14). The term “pollutant” is defined, in pertinent part, as “solid waste,” “wrecked 
or discarded equipment,” “rock, sand,” and “industrial waste,” and therefore encompasses the 
drill head, drill shaft, and drilling fluid being discharged from the pipe conduit. 33 U.S.C. § 
1362(6). The “discharge” of a pollutant means “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters 
from any point source,” as well as “any addition of any pollutant to the waters of…the ocean 
from any point source.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12). “Navigable waters” is defined as the “waters of 
the United States, including the territorial sea.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7). 
 

The Clean Water Act authorizes citizens to file suit against any person1 alleged to be in 
violation of an “effluent standard or limitation.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1). An “effluent standard or 
limitation” includes an “unlawful act under subsection (a) of section 1311 of this title.” 33 
U.S.C. § 1365(f)(1). Upon information and belief, ECH does not possess, and has not applied 
for, a NPDES permit for the discharge of drilling fluid and wrecked and abandoned equipment 
from the pipe conduit to nearby surface waters, including the Pacific Ocean.  

 
 Notifying Party will allege in the lawsuit that ECH has discharged, continues to 
discharge, and is reasonably likely to continue to discharge, pollutants, including drilling fluid,  
from the Jupiter cable pipe conduit to the Pacific Ocean without the requisite NPDES permit, in 
violation of Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act. Upon information and belief, the discharge 
of pollutants is ongoing since April 28, 2020. These ongoing discharges are the result of 
percolation, leaching, seepage, and direct discharges from the abandoned pipe conduit. Public 
records indicate that the conduit pipe contained at least 6,500 gallons of drilling fluid. Upon 
information and belief, the discharge volume is likely significantly greater than 6,500 gallons 
and could potentially exceed 20,000 gallons. Upon information and belief, the saturated seabed is 
hydrologically connected to the territorial sea, meaning that drilling fluid which percolates 
and/or migrates from the conduit pipe is discharged into the territorial sea of the Pacific Ocean in 
violation of the CWA. Discharges of this type began on April 28, 2020, and, based upon 
information and belief, are reasonably likely to continue into the future due to ECH’s decision 
not to timely repair and/or recover the wrecked drilling equipment and fluid. 
 
 Notifying Party will allege in the lawsuit that Edge has violated the Clean Water Act 
every day since April 28, 2020 due to its unlawful operation of the Jupiter cable drilling 

 
1 The term “person” under the CWA includes a “corporation.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5).  
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apparatus and that these discharges are continuing or reasonably likely to continue into the 
foreseeable future. Further violations may be uncovered during the course of discovery after 
litigation commences, and Notifying Party expressly reserves the right to seek additional civil 
penalties for such violations. Additionally, as Edge intends to resume activities, there is a 
reasonable likelihood of similar discharges. Notifying Parties will allege that Edge is liable for 
daily penalties of up to the statutory maximum of $55,800 per day, per violation.  
 
 In addition to civil penalties, Notifying Party will seek an order requiring Edge to abate 
all discharges. Furthermore, Notifying Party will seek an order from the Court requiring Edge to 
pay Notifying Party’s attorneys’ fees and costs, which include expert witness fees and costs.   
 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CLEAN WATER ACT: SECTION 404 VIOLATIONS 
 
 The discharge of fill material to water of the United States and/or removal of dredge 
material from a water of the United States is prohibited unless it is in compliance with Section 
404(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1344(a), and Section 401 (a)(1), 33 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(1), of the CWA. The 
Unites States Army Corps of Engineering (“USACE”) and the EPA have the authority to jointly 
implement and manage the Section 404 permitting for the discharge of fill into and the removal 
of spoils from waters of the United States. Under the Nationwide Permit program (“NWP”), the 
USACE has developed a general permit for utility line projects (“NWP 12”).  
 
  On May 29, 2019, the USACE issued Edge an NWP 12 and authorized the temporary 
excavation and discharge of 77,710 cubic yards of marine sediment in 48.17 acres of the Pacific 
Ocean to trench and backfill the Jupiter Cable System. NWP-2018-179-1. Pursuant to the NWP 
12, USACE’s authorization is only valid if the work is performed in accordance with NWP 12 
Terms and Conditions. Subsection (c) of Edge’s permit requires implementation and adherence 
to the Fraction Mitigation Contingency Plan, which mandates immediate notification, removal, 
and disposal, as required by law, of any material contaminated with Bentonite. Subsection (d) of 
the NWP 12 further requires that ECH “shall take the necessary precautions to 
prevent…deleterious or toxic materials from entering waterways during construction to prevent 
introduction of contaminants or pollutants into the aquatic ecosystem.” 
 
 Section 505(a)(1) of the CWA authorizes a citizen suit against any person who is alleged 
to be in violation of an effluent standard of limitation, which includes violations of Section 404. 
33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1); 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). Upon information and belief, ECH has and 
continues to violate the Nationwide Permit (“NWP”) 12 Terms and Conditions, and is, therefore, 
not in compliance with its Section 404 permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1344(p). As described above, on 
April 28, 2020, ECH violated subsection (c) and (d) of its 404 permit after failing to provide 
immediate notification, removal, and disposal of at least 6,500 gallons of Bentonite-based 
drilling fluid that potentially contaminated and adversely impacted the aquatic ecosystem of the 
Pacific Ocean. Upon information and belief, the Bentonite drilling fluid began discharging from 
the wrecked conduit pipe on or around April 28, 2020, potentially creating adverse impacts to the 
fish and aquatic invertebrates. Notifying Party will allege in the lawsuit that Edge has and 
continues to violate the Clean Water Act by operating the Jupiter drilling rig and subsequently 
dredging and filling the Pacific Ocean and territorial sea without a valid Section 404 permit or in 
violation of an existing permit. Notifying Party will allege that Edge is liable for civil penalties 
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cc Via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, to the following: 
 
Andrew Wheeler, Administrator  
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Mail Code:  1101A 
1200 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
 
Chris Hladick, Regional Administrator 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 10 
1200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 155 
Seattle, WA 98101 
 
Richard Whitman, Director 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
700 NE Multnomah Street, Suite 600 
Portland, OR 97232-4100 
 
Via U.S. Mail to the following: 
Jim Rue, Director 
Oregon Department of Land Conservation 
and Development 
Oregon Coastal Management Program 
635 Capitol Street NE, Suite 150  
Salem, OR 97301 
 

Patty Snow, Manager  
Oregon Coastal Management Program 
635 Capitol Street NE, Suite 150  
Salem, OR 97301 
 

Lisa Sumption, Director 
Oregon Parks and Recreation Department  
725 Summer St. NE, Suite C 
Salem, OR 97301 
 

Lillian Shirley, Public Health Director  
Oregon Health Authority 
800 NE Oregon Street, Suite 930 
Portland, OR 97232 
 

Bill Ryan, Deputy Director for Operations 
Aquatic Resource Management Program 
Oregon Department of State Lands 
775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 
Salem, OR 97301 
 

Christopher Castelli, Northern Fields 
Operations Manager 
Aquatic Resource Management Program 
Oregon Department of State Lands 
775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 
Salem, OR 97301 
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